
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

TRISTAN BROUSSARD, 

     Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

FIRST TOWER LOAN, LLC d/b/a TOWER 

LOAN OF LAKE CHARLES, 

     Defendant. 

 

Civil Action No. 2:15-cv-01161- 

CJB-KWR 

Section “J”(1) 

 

EX PARTE MOTION TO STRIKE AND SUBSTITUTE EXHIBIT 

 Pursuant to American Arbitration Employment Arbitration Rule 39(b), Plaintiff redacted 

the names of parties and witnesses who have not consented to their publication from the 

previously filed Exhibit A (Doc. 137-01). On further review of the document, Plaintiff 

discovered one name which was mistakenly not redacted. Plaintiff has corrected the oversight in 

the accompanying Replacement Exhibit. Accordingly, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this 

Court strike Exhibit A of Plaintiff Tristan Broussard’s Notice of Arbitration Decision filed 

December 1, 2016 (Doc. 137-01) and substitute the proposed Replacement Exhibit attached 

hereto. 

Dated this December 5, 2016. Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Ryan P. Delaney 

Ryan P. Delaney 

DELANEY, ROBB & RUBIN ATTORNEYS AT 

LAW, LLC 

2800 Veterans Boulevard, Suite 213 

Metairie, LA  70005 

Telephone: (504) 267-9700 

ryan@delaneyandrobb.com 

 

James M. Finberg
◊
 

Barbara J. Chisholm
◊
 

P. Casey Pitts
◊
 

ALTSHULER BERZON LLP 
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177 Post Street, Suite 300 

San Francisco, CA  94108 

bchisholm@altber.com 

jfinberg@altber.com 

cpitts@altber.com 

 

Amy Whelan
◊
 

NATIONAL CENTER FOR LESBIAN RIGHTS 

870 Market Street, Suite 370 

San Francisco, CA  94102 

Telephone: (415) 392-6257 

awhelan@nclrights.org 

 

Scott D. McCoy
◊ 

SOUTHERN POVERTY LAW CENTER 

400 Washington Avenue 

Montgomery, AL  36104 

Telephone: (334) 956-8200 

scott.mccoy@splcenter.org 

 

Counsel for Plaintiff Tristan Broussard 
◊ 
Admitted Pro Hac Vice 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that I have on this December 5, 2016 caused a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing document to be filed using the CM/ECF filing system, which sent an electronic 

copy to all counsel of record. 

/s/ Ryan P. Delaney 

Ryan P. Delaney 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

TRISTAN BROUSSARD, 

     Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

FIRST TOWER LOAN, LLC d/b/a TOWER 

LOAN OF LAKE CHARLES, 

     Defendant. 

 

Civil Action No. 2:15-cv-01161- 

CJB-KWR 

Section “J”(1) 

 

ORDER ON MOTION TO STRIKE AND SUBSTITUTE EXHIBIT 

 This Court, having considered Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike and Substitute Exhibit 

(Doc. 138), hereby ORDERS: 

The motion is GRANTED. Exhibit A to Plaintiff’s Notice of Arbitration Decision is 

hereby struck, and the Replacement Exhibit submitted with the motion is substituted for the 

original filing. 

 New Orleans, Louisiana, this ___ day of December, 2016. 

 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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REPLACEMENT EXHIBIT

for
 Plaintiff's Notice of Arbitration Decision
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TRISTAN BROUSSARD, 
Claimant, 

ARBITRATOR: J. WILLIAM MANUEL 

VERSUS 

Respondent. 

A WARD AND OPINION OF ARBITRATOR 

I, the undersigned Arbitrator, having been designated in accordance with the Arbitration 

Agreement entered into by the above-named parties; having been duly sworn; having heard the 

proofs; and considered the allegations of the parties, hereby issue this Reasoned Opinion and 

Award. 

After considering the testimony of all the witnesses, and where appropriate, having 

considered their relative credibility, and having carefully reviewed the exhibits introduced into 

evidence and the post-hearing briefing, all in light of the applicable law governing these issues, I 

find as follows: 

This is an action brought by Claimant Tristan Broussard ("Broussard" or "Claimant") 

against (' " or "Respondent") alleging that 

violated Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §2000e by engaging in sex 

discrimination. On December 10, 2015, the United States District Court for the Eastern District 

of Louisiana granted - 's Motion to Compel Arbitration. The arbitration hearing was 

conducted over a period of two and a half days, September 7 - 9, 2016. 

In early spring of 2013, Broussard applied for and was hired by- for the position 

of Manager Trainee in - · s Lake Charles, Louisiana office. During the hiring process, 

Broussard presented as a male with patchy facial hair and a coat and tie. At some point early in 

his time with , Broussard was required to submit a drivers' license. That license 

represented that Broussard was female. Numerous discussions within - soon ensued 
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and culminated with a March 11, 2013, meeting between Broussard, (the Lake 

Charles branch manager), and (Senior Area Supervisor) during which, Broussard 

was presented with a memo including the following language: 

I understand that my preference to act and dress as a male, despite having been 
born a female, is not something that will be in compliance with- 's 
personnel policies. 

I have been advised as to the proper dress for females and also have been 
provided a copy of the female dress code. I also understand that when 
meetings occur that require out of town travel and an overnight room is 
required, I will be assigned to a room with a female. 

s Director of Human Resources and Executive Vice President, -

testified that she was involved in the drafting of this memo along with input from corporate 

counsel. Broussard was told that he needed to follow the instructions within the memo and sign 

it. Broussard stated that he could not comply with the policy, but was told in the meeting to take 

the day off and think about it. Broussard left the building, but did not return to - the 

next day. In a telephone conversation with- , Broussard stated that he could not comply 

with the policy presented to him and therefore he would not be returning to work. 

SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT WITH 

It is undisputed that Broussard never returned to - after leaving the office on 

March 11, 2013. The Claimant alleges that he was involuntarily tenninated during the March 11, 

2013. In the alternative, the Claimant argues that he suffered a constructive discharge as a result 

of the policies imposed upon him by the corporate office. The Respondent argues that Broussard 

voluntarily abandoned his employment and that the circumstances cannot be construed to meet the 

standard of a constructive discharge. 

Based upon the testimony, I find that Broussard was not involuntarily terminated in the 

March 11, 2013 meeting. However, I do believe that the testimony and documents presented at 
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the hearing show that Broussard meets the standard of a constructive discharge. The briefing on 

this issue was very well-done on both sides, but in the end, I believe that the facts show that 

Broussard involuntarily resigned in order to escape an intolerable and illegal employment 

requirement imposed by the corporate office-that he act and dress only as a female pursuant to 

- ·s personnel policies. With regard to the argwnent that Broussard did not properly use 

a grievance procedure, I find that his discussions with his branch manager and senior area 

supervisor are sufficient to meet that factor, should a cou1t deem that it apply. 

"BECAUSE OF" SEX 

In order to support a claim for sex discrimination, Broussard must prove that he suffered 

an adverse employment action because of his sex. As noted in my Order on the cross-motions for 

summary judgment and defendant's motion to strike, the Fifth Circuit has not yet ruled that 

discrimination based solely on an employee's status of being transgender or going through 

transgender transition is a per se violation of Title VII. And although there was ample testimony 

about the condition of gender dysphoria, Broussard's complaint does not make a claim that he was 

discriminated against for suffering from that condition. Instead, we must look to see if

llll's actions and statements support a claim for sex discrimination under the current statutory 

interpretation of Title VII by the Fifth Circuit. 

In doing so, it is my opinion that the United States Supreme Comt's decision in Price 

Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989) provides proper guidance. In Price Waterhouse, the 

Cou1t held that Congress "intended to strike at the entire spectrum of disparate treatment of men 

and women resulting from sex stereotypes." Id. at 251. Fu1ther, the Court noted that as a country, 

we are "beyond the day when an employer could evaluate employees by assuming or insisting that 

they matched the stereotype associated with their group." Id. In a later case, addressing an 

argument that Congress did not contemplate a certain type of sex discrimination theory when 
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passing Title VII, the Supreme Comt noted that "statutory prohibitions often go beyond the 

principal evil to cover reasonably comparable evils, and it is ultimately the provisions of our laws 

rather than the principal concerns of ow· legislators by which we are governed." Oncale v. 

Sundowner Offshore Services. Inc., 523 U.S. 75, 79 (1998). 

The Fifth Circuit recently affirmed that gender-stereotyping can be the basi.s for a claim 

under Title VII. In EEOC v. Bob Bros. Const. Co., LLC, 731 F.3d 444, 454 (2013), the Cou1t 

talked about the Price Waterhouse decision and went on to state that "numerous courts, including 

[the Fifth Circuit], have recognized that a plaintiff can satisfy Title VII's because-of-sex 

requirement with evidence of a plaintiffs perceived fai lure to conform to traditional gender 

stereotypes." Therefore, we must look to see if the proof showed that acted on a 

perception that Broussard fai led to conform to traditional gender stereotypes. 

The testimony, memo and emails presented at the hearing clearly show that, after learning 

that Broussard' s driver's license stated female,- began to act in a manner showing that 

it perceived Broussard did not comply with the traditional gender stereotypes of a female. The 

memo, drafted by- with advice from counsel and presented to Broussard on March 11, 

2013, states that by acting and dressing in a manner other than like a female, Broussard would be 

in violation of 's personnel policies. Therefore, s corporate office 

insisted that he match the stereotype associated with female. That is a violation of Title VII, under 

both Price Waterhouse and Boh Bros. Broussard has met the "because of sex" standard to support 

his claim for sex discrimination under Title VII. 

DAMAGES 
Economic Damages 

Broussard claims that he is entitled to over $100,000 in back pay. The testimony and 

documentation, however, show some major issues with Broussard 's mitigation of damages. The 
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most troubling testimony was that Broussard left a subsequent job at Mark Dodge where he made 

over $26,000 in eleven months to take a position at Blaze Smoke Shop for $8 per hour. There was 

no testimony that he was asked to leave Mark Dodge and no credible reason as to why he would 

leave a position that put him almost at the same position as a Manager Trainee at - . In 

addition, Broussard'sjob search attempts have been hindered by his own fai lure to maintain a valid 

driver's license. These issues also affect the analysis for front pay damages. In addition, his brief 

sojourn at - affects the amount of future pay, if it were to be awarded. As such, I adopt 

the arguments of the Respondent on those issues and hereby award Broussard $43, 162 in economic 

damages. 

Emotional Distress Damages 

Broussard also seeks $125,000 in emotional distress and mental anguish damages. This 

figure is allegedly based upon his testimony that his constructive discharge from -

caused him to be upset. There was also testimony, from Broussard and his former girlfriend, that 

he suffered from mental anguish and emotional distress prior to ever having worked at -

... Recognizing that he did suffer some mental anguish from his brief time with - , 

I am awarding $10,000 in emotional distress damages and no proof regarding that issue was 

presented at the hearing. 

This Award and Opinion is in full settlement and determination of all claims of liability 

and damages submitted to this Arbitration. 

The Claimant's post-hearing brief did not~ 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

TRISTAN BROUSSARD, 

     Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

FIRST TOWER LOAN, LLC d/b/a TOWER 

LOAN OF LAKE CHARLES, 

     Defendant. 

 

Civil Action No. 2:15-cv-01161- 

CJB-KWR 

Section “J”(1) 

 

ORDER ON MOTION TO STRIKE AND SUBSTITUTE EXHIBIT 

 This Court, having considered Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike and Substitute Exhibit 

(Doc. 138), hereby ORDERS: 

The motion is GRANTED. Exhibit A to Plaintiff’s Notice of Arbitration Decision is 

hereby struck, and the Replacement Exhibit submitted with the motion is substituted for the 

original filing. 

 New Orleans, Louisiana, this ___ day of December, 2016. 

 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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